STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case:

This is a direct appeal of a final order rendered by the Hon. Robert E. Beach, Senior Circuit Judge, on December 17, 2003 (Vol. VII, R. 1263-1337, Vol. VIII, R. 1338-1496) denying Henry's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion for post conviction relief in a capital case.

B. Jurisdiction:

This Court has jurisdiction to review the lower court order denying Henry's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion for post conviction relief per the provisions of Article V, Section 3(b), Florida Constitution, Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(I), and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850(g).

C. Course of the Proceedings:

On January 15, 1986, John R. Henry was indicted by a Hillsborough County, Florida grand jury and charged with the first-degree murder of Eugene Christian, the son of his wife, Suzanne Henry. (Vol. I, R. 29) The homicide occurred on December 22, 1985. <u>Id</u>. On April 11, 1987, John Henry was tried by jury and ultimately found guilty as charged. (Vol. I, R. 30) On April 15, 1987, after a penalty phase proceeding, he was sentenced by the trial court, Hon. Donald C. Evans, Circuit Judge, to death. (Vol. I, R. 31-33) He appealed.

On January 3, 1991, Henry's judgment and death sentence were reversed and a new trial ordered. *Henry v. State*, 574 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1991). On that same day, Henry's judgment of guilt and sentence of death for the murder of Eugene Christian's mother, Suzanne Henry, was also reversed by this Court and a new trial ordered.¹ *Henry v. State*, 574 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1991).

On October 7, 1991, Henry was retried for the death of Suzanne Henry in the Pasco County case. He was found guilty and again sentenced to death. The judgment and sentence were affirmed by this Court. *Henry v. State*, 649 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1994). On August 24-31, 1992, Henry was retried for the murder of Eugene Christian. He was found guilty as charged and sentenced to death by Hon. Susan Bucklew, Circuit Judge. Henry appealed and raised five claims: (1) The trial court erred by denying his motion to remove the state attorney and appoint a special prosecutor since an investigator from the public defender's office that represented Henry later went to work for the state attorney's office during the retrial; (2) the trial court erred in not suppressing

¹ John Henry killed Suzanne Henry earlier in the day in Pasco County, Florida, shortly before her son, Eugene, was killed in Hillsborough County. A more detailed explanation of these events is set out below.

Henry's confession that was allegedly tainted by a threat made by the investigating deputy; (3) the trial court erred in permitting testimony about the interrogation of Henry beyond a point in the course of the confession at which Henry indicated that he no longer wished to speak to law enforcement; (4) the trial court erred in not reading back the testimony of Dr. Robert Berland after being asked to do so by the jury during the retrial; and (5) there was prosecutorial misconduct (alleged badgering) in terms of the cross examination of certain of the state's expert witnesses. (Vol. III, R. 475-480) This Court rejected those arguments and affirmed the judgment and death sentence. *Henry v. State*, 649 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1994). Henry then sought a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court of the United States, but that petition was denied. *Henry v. Florida*, 116 S.Ct. 101 (1995).

On March 28, 1997, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-Middle, filed a shell motion to vacate the judgment and death sentence per the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. (Vol. I, R. 67) On April 27, 1999, CCRC-Middle filed a first amended motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentences with special request for leave to amend. (Vol. I, R. 67-148) On September 24, 1999, the Hon. Cynthia Holloway, Circuit Judge, rendered an order summarily denying some of the claims raised by CCRC-Middle and authorizing an evidentiary hearing regarding others. (Vol. I, R. 149-210, Vol. II, R. 211-386)

On January 30, 2001, CCRC-Middle moved to withdraw. (Vol. II, R. 387-389) On May 10, 2001, that motion was granted by Hon. Robert E. Beach, Senior Circuit Judge. (Vol. II, R. 394) On July 2, 2001, undersigned registry counsel was appointed along with Bjorn Brunvand, Esq., to represent Henry in his post conviction efforts. (Vol. II, R. 396)

On September 12, 2002, Henry filed a complete post conviction motion to vacate his judgment and death sentence. (Vol. III, R. 399-458) The complete post conviction motion contained some of the same claims filed by CCRC-Middle. On March 7, 2003, the state filed an answer to the defendant's complete post conviction motion to vacate judgment and sentence. (Vol. III, R. 461-609; Vol. IV, R. 610-667) On July 11, 2003, after a $Huff^2$ hearing, Judge Beach summarily denied some of the claims raised in the complete 3.850 motion (filed by the undersigned) and granted an evidentiary hearing regarding others. (Vol. V, R. 908-1023; Vol. VI, R. 1024-1121) In the interest of preserving this Court's labor, Henry notes that he is not appealing, except as noted below,³ the claims that were summarily denied by Judges Holloway and Beach. On the contrary, as will be made

² *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

³ See footnote 11 below.

clear below, Henry is appealing the denial by Judges Holloway and Beach of certain claims raised both by CCRC-Middle and undersigned registry counsel – claims for which Henry was afforded an evidentiary hearing, with one exception as will be noted.

On October 17, 2003, Judge Beach presided over the evidentiary hearing. (Vol. VII, R. 1128-1262) On December 17, 2003, Judge Beach rendered an "Order Denying Claim IB of Defendant's First Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend and Claim I (in part) of Defendant's Complete 3.850 Post Conviction Motion to Vacate Judgment and Death Sentence." (Vol. VII, R. 1263-1337, Vol. VIII, R. 1338-1496)

On January 2, 2004, Henry filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. (Vol. VIII, R. 1497)

D. Standard of Appellate Review Generally:

This is a post conviction capital case involving mixed questions of fact and law. As such, the final order of the circuit court denying Henry's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion for post conviction relief is entitled to plenary, *de novo* review except that findings of fact by the trial court are entitled to deference so long as there is competent and substantial evidence in the record to support same. *Johnson v. State*, 789 So. 2d 262

5

(Fla. 2001); *Rose v. State*, 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996). This standard will be referenced again in the argument section of the initial brief.

E. Statement of the Facts:

The Basic Facts of the Case

The basic facts regarding the deaths of Suzanne Henry and Eugene

Christian are found in this Court's opinion in Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 66-

68 (Fla. 1991).

Suzanne Henry's body was found in her home in the Pasco County town of Zephyrhills, Florida, at 4:20 p.m. on December 23, 1985. She had been stabbed thirteen times in the throat, and her body had been covered with a rug and left near the living room couch. Her son, five-year-old Eugene Christian, was missing.

Within a short period of time, the sheriff's office discovered enough evidence to arrest Henry for his wife's murder. The two chief investigators in the case were Pasco County detectives Fay Wilber and William McNulty. Wilber and McNulty tracked Henry to the Twilight Hotel in Zephyrhills, where he was staying in a room with Rosa Mae Thomas. He was arrested shortly after midnight. Detective Wilber read Henry his "Miranda rights," and asked about Eugene Christian. Henry denied knowing his whereabouts.

Henry was taken to the Pasco County Sheriff's office in Dade City for questioning. He was placed in a conference room, the dimensions of which were approximately ten by twenty feet. One wrist was handcuffed to a chair, but he was not otherwise restrained, and he was allowed to smoke cigarettes and drink coffee. Wilber had known Henry for a number of years, so it was decided that he would question him. While Wilber went to get coffee, however, McNulty attempted to talk to Henry, "to establish rapport." McNulty said he understood Henry had "done some time before," to which Henry replied, "I am not saying nothing to you. Besides, you ain't read me nothing yet." McNulty reminded Henry that Wilber had read him his rights at the motel, and then asked where Eugene Christian was. After a few moments, Wilber came back with coffee, and McNulty left. On several occasions, McNulty reentered the room to observe and participate in the questioning. McNulty never related Henry's statement to Wilber because he took it to mean that Henry simply did not wish to talk to him (McNulty).

Upon reentering with the coffee, Wilber read Henry his Miranda rights, and Henry agreed to talk. Wilber and Henry talked over the course of more than three hours. However, Wilber was out of the room on one occasion for perhaps as much as an hour and a half. Even then Henry did not confess. Ultimately, Wilber said he was going to have to leave and find Eugene without Henry's help. At this point, Henry said Eugene was in Plant City. Wilber asked if the boy was alive, and Henry said he was not. Henry said he would take the police to the site, and he did so. When the body was found, it appeared that the victim had been stabbed five times in the neck. Once the body was recovered, Henry was taken back to Dade City, where, after being informed of his Miranda rights, he made a full confession concerning both murders.

Henry related that he had gone to his estranged wife's house before noon on December 22 to discuss what Christmas present to buy Eugene. While he was there they got into an argument over his living with Rosa Thomas. After he refused to leave, she attacked him with a kitchen knife. They "tussled" and after he was cut three times on his left arm, he "freaked out," took the knife away from her, and stabbed her. He then covered her body and went into another room to get Eugene, who had been watching television.

Henry said that he then took Eugene with him and drove to Plant City, in Hillsborough County. They stopped to buy the boy a snack and later for him to buy some cocaine, before heading back towards Zephyrhills. When Henry thought he saw flashing lights behind him, he said he turned into an isolated area near a chicken farm because he believed police were after him. When the car got stuck in some mud, Henry and Eugene got out and walked a short distance away. They stopped, and Henry smoked his cocaine while holding Eugene on his knee. He then stabbed the boy to death and considered killing himself, but could not bring himself to do it. He walked around for a while before dropping the knife in a field. Some nine hours had passed since he killed his wife. He walked back to Zephyrhills, went to Rosa Thomas' house, and changed clothes. The two then went to the motel. Henry said he did not know why he killed Suzanne and Eugene.

The Defense Offered by Henry's Counsel During the Guilt/Innocence Phase of the Capital Trial

During the guilt/innocence phase of the trial, Henry's defense counsel attempted to establish a voluntary intoxication defense. (Vol. VII, R. 1267-1269) That attempt included, among other things, first presenting testimony from several lay witnesses and Henry himself to the effect that Henry had been ingesting cocaine shortly before he killed Eugene Christian. (Vol. VII, R. 1278) Defense counsel then presented testimony of three mental health experts, Doctors Daniel Sprehe, Walter Afield and Robert Berland, essentially to the effect that, due to Henry's ingestion of crack cocaine before the homicide, he was not able to form the specific intent to commit first-degree murder. (Vol. VII, R. 1273-1278)

The Testimony presented during the 3.850 Evidentiary Hearing

William Mosman, Ph.D., J.D., is a psychologist licensed by the Florida Department of Professional Regulation as of 1990. (Vol. VII, R. 1133, 1134) He specializes in forensic psychology and works in the area of neuro-psychology and developmental psychology. (Vol. VII, R. 1134) He obtained his undergraduate degree in psychology over a period of about six years and attended various universities in the State of Nebraska before obtaining his Ph.D. in 1972 from the University of Nebraska. During this time he trained and did research at the Veterans Administration Hospital in Salt Lake City, Utah. (Vol. VII, R. 1134-6) He was admitted as a member of the Florida Bar in 1993. (Vol. VII, R. 1134)

Dr. Mosman did a postdoctoral internship with the California Department of Corrections to become licensed in that state around 1974. (Vol. VII, R. 1136) He practiced psychology in California for about 18 years in the Department of Corrections and the Board of Prison Terms and Parole. <u>Id</u>. During this time, Dr. Mosman worked with various sheriffs' offices and police agencies conducting psychological evaluations and managing certain programs for these agencies. <u>Id</u>. He was the director of the testing and assessment programs at Atascadero State Hospital, a large forensic hospital, for about 18 months. <u>Id</u>. He had performed over 600 evaluations for the State of Florida prior to testifying in this proceeding and had been allowed to testify as an expert forensic psychologist in various Florida courts. (Vol. VII, R. 1137, 1138)

Judge Beach, without objection from the state, authorized Dr. Mosman to give expert opinion evidence regarding the defendant. (Vol. VII, R. 1138)

Dr. Mosman testified that registry counsel had asked him to examine the trial record to determine whether a viable voluntary intoxication defense existed in this case at the time of trial and, if so, whether defense counsel adequately researched and presented that defense at Henry's retrial. (Vol. VII, R. 1140) Dr. Mosman studied the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office arrest reports, the FDLE arrest reports, the Hillsborough County booking records, Henry's Florida Department of Corrections medical records, Henry's records from the Pasco County case (the Suzanne Henry homicide), photographs of the crime scenes, the retrial transcript, and the testimony of Doctors James Fessler, Walter Afield, Daniel Sprehe, and Robert Berland, (Vol. VII, R. 1141-1143) Many of the reports studied among others. contained information to the effect that John Henry had consumed significant amounts of crack cocaine shortly before he killed Eugene Christian. For example, in Dr. Sprehe's report of February 17, 1987, he (Dr. Sprehe) noted that ". . . he had been smoking crack cocaine on Sunday morning, 12/22/85." (Vol. V, R. 1002-1004) Dr. Sprehe added: "He smoked some more cocaine in the bushes then he decided to kill Eugene." (Vol. V, R. 1003) Dr. Berland reported that Henry drove "... around in the car with the child victim repeatedly purchasing and smoking crack cocaine. He described a pattern of worsening psychotic symptoms which included visual and auditory hallucinations. In particular, he reported believing that flashing lights began following him as he was driving home following this period of driving and drug abuse." (Vol. VI. R. 1056)⁴

These quotes

from Doctors Sprehe and Berland do not come from Dr. Mosman's

4

Dr. Mosman determined that none of the doctors really focused on the issue of voluntary intoxication and missed key indicators that should have been considered. (Vol. VII, R. 1143, 1144) While the experts discussed the effects of crack cocaine generally, according to Dr. Mosman, the doctors never produced a detailed "diagnostic workup" on Henry that their profession demands. Dr. Mosman stated in this regard:

... (t)he question I would ask is did you or did you not do a formal diagnostic workup, yes or no, and then explain. And that would have truncated all this listing of small range schizophrenia, which has never been a diagnosis in, you know, these issues. It would have forced the issue of what is this individual like. That was never brought out, never.

(Vol. VII, R. 1174)

According to Dr. Mosman, the doctors should have testified as to the "actual symptoms and effects of cocaine on the mind, upon thinking, upon analysis, and it wasn't done." Id. Dr. Mosman went on to state that only Dr. Berland got close to recognizing the problem and even he acknowledged giving an outdated test related to Henry's I.Q. that further masked the issue. (Vol. VII, R. 1144, 1148) Dr. Mosman emphasized that Henry's actual mental age at the time of the Eugene Christian homicide was that of about a 10 or 11 year old child. (Vol. VII, R. 1147) The question of intoxication therefore was: What effect would cocaine ingestion have upon a person with that low of an I.Q. and mental age? Id. According to Dr. Mosman, Henry's mental age ". . . is a significant issue as related to specific intent to understand, form judgments, identify alternatives, weigh and balance to seek consequences and everything." Id. Dr. Mosman advised that at the time of the homicide, Henry had the mental capacity of a "preadolescent" and, had defense counsel recognized and demonstrated this, the jury would have known that ". . . they did not have an adult man mentally sitting in that chair." (Vol. VII, R. 1149) Dr. Mosman was then asked:

Q. Okay. What – you've read in the record, for example there was testimony from a Mr. Giles and a Ms. Tumme (phonetic) and even Mr. Henry himself that he had ingested cocaine prior to the homicide that we're dealing with in this case. What effect do you think that ingestion of cocaine would have had upon him in terms of his ability to form the specific intent to commit first degree murder?

testimony, but from the reports or testimony of the doctors themselves.

You have two questions really. What my answer would A. be is that it would not be reasonable or even clinically, you know, reasonable for him to expect that he could perform the mental operations, the cognitive thought patterns -- can list them for you if you want -- the judgment that would have to be exercised by reasonably identifying alternatives, various courses of action, pick and choose the consequences, understand all the things that he was trying to deal with there and then independently, without impairment, pick and choose the alternate that he did. That would be, and I think the data supports that in the records, but what I said and prefaced that with, as I understand the situation because, once again, the situation was not presented to the jury, and I'm not just talking about the IQ of 71, the preadolescence stuff, the information, as I said earlier, that was presented to them about cocaine was erroneous and was out dated by many years and was not accurate.

(Vol. VII, R. 1150, 1151)

Dr. Mosman specifically faulted defense counsel for asking Dr. Fessler only two questions about the effects of cocaine: Did it affect memory loss and did it leave a grandiose feeling. (Vol. VII, R. 1153, 1154) Dr. Mosman stated that Dr. Fessler should have been asked about all of the effects of cocaine use and especially as they relate to this defendant and the impairment of the ability to form the specific intent to commit first-degree murder. (Vol. VII, R. 1156, 1157) Had defense counsel done so, the side effects of an overwhelming sense of hopelessness, anxiety, paranoid delusions, increased aggression, increased violence, and impulse control problems would have been referenced. (Vol. VII, R. 1155) All of these effects obviously support a voluntary intoxication defense. Dr. Mosman added: "... if you add that on to a ten year old, you've got more than a problem on your hands mentally." (Vol. VII, R. 1156)

After reviewing the testimony of Dr. Afield, Dr. Mosman noted that trial counsel failed to have Dr. Afield fully articulate the basis for his general findings regarding Henry's mental state as it affected the voluntary intoxication defense. (Vol. VII, R. 1158-1161) As to Dr. Sprehe, Dr. Mosman testified that he did not spend enough time examining Mr. Henry and working with defense counsel in order to provide detailed information to support the voluntary intoxication defense. (Vol. VII, R. 1161-1163)

Dr. Mosman concluded direct examination by noting that Henry suffered prejudice as a result of his counsel's failure to fully develop the voluntary intoxication defense. Dr. Mosman stated that the information presented to the jury was incomplete and in some cases erroneous, thus the jury did not get the full impact and strength of this defense. (Vol. VII, R. 1163-1165)

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