IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN RUTHELL HENRY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC04-153 Lower Tribunal No. 85-14273

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Chief of Capital Appeals Florida Bar No. 0445071 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite

Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

200

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUES I & II: Appellant claims that the trial court erred in failing to find that Henry's trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt/innocence phase of the trial for, among other things, allowing Henry to admit on direct examination that he murdered his first wife, Patricia Roddy, by stabbing her to death, that he served only 7 ½ years for that offense, and that he had previously been sentenced to death for the murder of Suzanne Henry. It is the state's position that appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was properly denied after an evidentiary hearing. The record shows that this decision was made after much consideration and consultation with co-counsel and the defendant. Moreover, the facts are on this same evidence and with this same defense at Henry's first trial, the jury found him guilty of first-degree murder. the face of this insurmountable fact, Henry's argument that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice because the tactic undermined a "very voluntary intoxication defense" is sheer sophistry. Given the overwhelming evidence against Henry and the fact that one jury had already found him guilty on these facts, Henry cannot establish that confidence in the outcome of the proceedings is undermined. Relief was properly denied.

ARGUMENT

ISSUES I & II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING HENRY'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE DURING THE GUILT/INNOCENCE PHASE OF THE TRIAL.

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in failing to find that Henry's trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt/innocence phase of the trial for, among other things, allowing Henry to admit on direct examination that he murdered his first wife, Patricia Roddy, by stabbing her to death, that he served only 7 ½ years for that offense, and that he had previously been sentenced to death for the murder of Suzanne Henry. issue was the subject of the evidentiary hearing below. After reviewing the testimony, evidence and arguments presented at the October 17, evidentiary hearing, the court file, and the record, Judge Beach found that former defense trial counsel, Judge Fuente, made tactical, strategic decisions to have Henry to fully discuss his prior two murder

convictions.⁶ Judge Beach further found that this decision had already been decided prior to trial, in a joint decision by Judge Fuente, experienced cocunsel Dwight Wells and John Henry. In the order denying relief, the court set forth Judge Fuente's extensive explanation for pursuing the strategy that they did:

Well, the decision to proceed the way we did, and that is let Mr. Henry testify and acknowledging everything, was arrived at fairly late in the game, I mean, it was within a couple of months of the trial commencing. And my recollection of this we had a -- we had a meeting, Mr. Henry, Mr. Wells and myself, I don't recall where that took place, obviously it was at the jail, and just throwing this idea around. At the time, the thinking was he had already been convicted once of offense, if memory serves me correctly, he had already been convicted once and then again in Dade County of a homicide that occurred previously, and based upon our assessment of the evidence the state had against him, it was highly unlikely that we were going to achieve an acquittal. So our best -our thought was our best hope was to try to achieve, number 1,

_

⁶ In the lower court's December 17, 2003 order denying relief after the evidentiary hearing, Judge Beach thoroughly sets out the factual basis for his findings of fact and legal conclusions. (PCR 7/1263-1291)

a conviction on a lesser on some defense where we could get into the -- his mental history, and the only way that could happen was we would agree with an insanity or a voluntary intoxication defense, and we chose the latter. We excluded considering the insanity defense because of the, really the flip-flopping of one or two of the doctors. I believe Dr. Sprehe at one point opined that he thought he was insane and then changed it, or vice versa, I forget, but we didn't feel comfortable with the insanity defense, the primary reason was we would be standing in front of a jury, asking that jury to find him not guilty because he was insane and we thought it would be more realistic and more palatable for a jury of 12 to find him guilty of some lesser offense based on cocaine usage and his mental history.

And the other concern was that after discussing with Mr. Henry, my having been in this situation before and Mr. Wells having been in the situation whereby if we approached this case on a pure not guilty, then denying the offense, if you will, it would have likely culminated in a situation where that jury would not have known, likely would not have known about the Dade County murder and about the --

. . .

I'm sorry, the Pasco County murder, which happened very

shortly before and the Roddy murder which happened some ten years before. So we would have been faced with a client whose jury just found guilty and then at penalty phase for the first time that jury would have known about two other homicides. We were almost certain that would result in a recommendation of death. So our strategy, if you will, was to lay it all out on the table so that the jury would not be surprised, they would know everything that there was to know and, again, that was a calculated decision on all of our parts. And obviously in retrospect, it didn't work, but that was our decision.

(PCR 7/1267-

68)

The court further noted that when asked on cross-examination what potential benefit there was to telling the jury about the Roddy homicide in the guilt phase, Judge Fuente gave the following response:

The potential benefit, as we perceived it, was simply to let the jury know everything there was to know upfront, be completely candid, and if they returned a verdict of first degree murder, there would be no surprise, nothing more for them to consider, nothing more aggravating, if you will. Based on this evidence, the lower court concluded that Henry failed to meet the second prong of Strickland, and that it was unnecessary to address the performance component. It is the state's position that, for the following reasons, the lower court properly denied the ineffective assistance of counsel claim with regard to the strategy to have Henry testify during the guilt phase. Moreover, although the court did not reach the deficiency question, as the following will show, counsel's performance was within the wide range of acceptable reasonable professional assistance.

The Test for Claims of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Recently, this Court in <u>Howell v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 697, 702 (Fla. 2004), set forth the test for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, as follows:

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant in a criminal case the right to assistance of counsel. A defendant seeking to establish a denial of this right because of counsel's ineffectiveness must

make a two-pronged showing of deficient performance by counsel and resulting prejudice. See Strickland v. Washington, U.S. 668, 687, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). First, a defendant must establish conduct on the part of is outside the broad counsel that range of performance under prevailing professional standards. Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216, 219 (Fla. 1998). Second, the deficiency must be shown to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceedings that confidence in the outcome is undermined. See id. The two prongs are related, in that "the benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Id. (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686) (alteration in original).

Howell v. State, 877 So. 2d at 702.

This Court has further held that:

In evaluating whether an attorney's conduct is deficient, "there is 'a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance,'" and the defendant "bears the burden of proving that counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional

norms and that the challenged action was not sound strategy." Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616, 628 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688-89). This Court has held that defense counsel's strategic choices do not constitute deficient conduct if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected. See Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999). Moreover, "to establish prejudice [a defendant] 'must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.'" Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1511-12, 146 L. Ed. 2d 389 (2000) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694); see Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 220.1.

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 960, 965-966 (Fla. 2001)

Moreover, this Court has explicitly recognized that "'[t]here is no reason for a court deciding an effective assistance claim . . . to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.' Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. 2052. '[A] court need not

deficient before examining whether the alleged deficiency was prejudicial.' <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 1014, 1015 (Fla. 1989)." <u>Schwab v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 402, 408-409 (Fla. 2002). Notwithstanding, the foregoing, the state maintains that Henry has failed to carry his burden of establishing both deficient performance and prejudice.

Strickland counsels that a review of counsel's performance should not be made in hindsight. Accordingly, it is necessary to view the case in the context that faced defense counsel at the time of Henry's retrial. This Court explained the factual and legal posture upon the affirmance of Henry's Hillsborough conviction:

Henry was convicted of the first-degree murders of Eugene Christian and Suzanne Henry in separate trials and received a sentence of death for each murder. This Court subsequently reversed both convictions and sentences. Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1991); Henry v. State, 574 So. 2d 73 (Fla. 1991). Regarding the murder of Eugene Christian, a majority of the Court held that considering the totality of the circumstances, continued questioning of Henry after he made the statement to one of the detectives that he was "saying

nothing" to him did not violate the principles of Miranda.

[n2] A majority of the Court also held that the trial court did not err in striking Henry's insanity defense and rejected Henry's other guilt-phase claims. [n3] However, because a majority of the justices believed that reversible error was committed, albeit for different reasons, the judgment and sentence were reversed and the case was remanded for a new trial.

Henry v. State, 649 So. 2d 1361, 1363 (Fla.
1994)(emphasis added)(footnotes omitted)

Because no majority of the justices agreed on the same error as reversible, new trial counsel was faced with the same evidence being introduced at Henry's retrial that resulted in his conviction the first time. Specifically, with regard to the admission of evidence concerning the murder of Suzanne Henry, this Court stated:

Henry further asserts that the trial court erred by allowing mention of Henry's conviction for the murder of Suzanne Henry and by admitting evidence relating to her murder. After a careful review of the record, we reject Henry's claim. As we pointed out in our opinion in the initial appeal, the State was faced with proving that Henry premeditated the murder of Christian and that Christian was kidnapped rather than taken lawfully. Henry, 574 So. 2d at 70. Given this burden of proof, Suzanne Henry murder was necessarily evidence from the admitted to adequately describe the events leading up to Christian's death. Further, the facts of Suzanne Henry's murder were so inextricably intertwined with Christian's murder that to separate them would have resulted in disjointed testimony that would have led to confusion. Griffin v. State, 639 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1994); <u>Erickson v. State</u>, 565 So. 2d 328, 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), review denied, 576 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1991). Therefore, because the evidence relating to Suzanne Henry's murder was inseparable crime evidence, we hold that its admission was proper.

Id. at 1365 (emphasis added)

This Court similarly agreed that the admission of Henry's confession to Eugene's murder was proper

because "the suppression issue was raised in Henry's prior appeal and denied by a majority of th[e] Court. Therefore, the 'law of the case' doctrine applies." <u>Id</u>. at 1364.

Thus, with the full knowledge that based on this same evidence, the prior jury had convicted Henry of first-degree murder, defense counsel stated they did not believe that Henry would be acquitted, that the best they could hope for was to get a second-degree murder conviction. The main focus though Henry's life. Although was to save postconviction counsel suggests that defense counsel was resigned to the "inevitability of a firstdegree murder verdict" and, thus failed to represent his client zealously, the record simply does not bear this out. (Initial Brief at pages 41-42)

To the contrary, counsel testified that he, his co-counsel Dwight Wells, an experienced capital litigator, and John Henry throughly discussed the pros and cons of being completely candid with the jury in the hopes that they would either return a second-degree verdict or a life recommendation. Defense counsel's strategic choices do not constitute deficient conduct if alternative courses

of action have been considered and rejected. Valle 778 So. 2d at 966-967; Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999). Moreover, "if the defendant consents to counsel's strategy, there is no merit to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel."

Gamble v. State, 877 So. 2d 706, 714 (Fla. 2004), citing Nixon v. Singletary, 758 So. 2d 618, 623 (Fla. 2000). The lower court made a specific factual finding that "Judge Fuente made a tactical, strategic decision, with the joint consent of both co-counsel Mr. Wells and Defendant, to disclose the Roddy murder to the jury during the guilt phase." (PCR 7/1270)

Henry challenges that although this may have been a tactical decision, it was not a reasonable one. (Initial Brief at page 29) However, it is well recognized strategy to admit otherwise unfavorable facts in the attempt to establish credibility with the jury. Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 9-10 (2003); Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1041-1043 (Fla. 2003); Gilliam v. State, 817 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 2002); Atwater v. State, 788 So. 2d 223, 230 (Fla. 2001); Faraga v. State, 514 So. 2d 295, 308 (Miss. 1987).

The holding in <u>Yarborough v. Gentry</u>, <u>supra</u>, is especially instructive. Upon rejecting a charge that counsel was ineffective for admitting his client's shortcomings during closing argument, the United States Supreme Court explained:

By candidly acknowledging his client's shortcomings, counsel might have built credibility with the jury and persuaded it to focus on the relevant issues in the case. See J. Stein, Closing Argument § 204, p 10 (1992-1996) ("[I]f you make certain concessions showing that you are earnestly in search of the truth, then your comments on matters that are dispute will be received without the usual apprehension surrounding the remarks of an advocate"). As Judge Kleinfeld pointed out in dissenting from denial of rehearing en banc, the court's criticism applies just as well to Clarence Darrow's closing argument in the Leopold and Loeb case: "'I do not know how much salvage there is in these two boys [Y]our Honor would be merciful if you tied a rope around their necks and let them die; merciful to them, but not merciful to civilization, and not merciful to those who would be left behind.'" 320 F.3d, at 895 (quoting Famous American Jury Speeches 1086 (Hicks ed. 1925) (reprint 1990)).

Indeed, this Court has also said:

Sometimes concession of guilt to some of the prosecutor's claims is good trial strategy and within defense counsel's discretion in order to gain credibility and acceptance of the jury.

When faced with the duty of attempting to avoid the consequences of overwhelming evidence of the commission of an atrocious crime, such as a deliberate, considered killing without the remotest legal justification or excuse, it is commonly considered a good trial strategy for a defense counsel to make some halfway concessions to the truth in order to give the appearance of reasonableness and candor and to thereby gain credibility and jury acceptance of some more important position.

<u>Atwater v. State</u>, 788 So. 2d 223, 230 (Fla. 2001)(quoting <u>McNeal v. State</u>, 409 So. 2d 528, 529 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982))

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